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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF ARKANSAS
WESTERN DIVISION

LATESHIA PATILLO PLAINTIFF
V. No. 4:16CV00722 JLH
SYSCO FOODS OF ARKANSAS, LLC DEFENDANT

OPINION AND ORDER

Lateshia Patillo commenced this action against her former employer, Sysco Foods of
Arkansas, LLC, on October 6, 2016, alleging race disoation and retaliation in violation of Title
VII. Patillo, who is black, alleges that she wasstructively discharged because of her race and
in retaliation for complaining about discriminatory actions. Sysco filed a motion to dismiss pursuant
to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6), arguing that Patillo failed to exhaust her
administrative remedies. Document #15. The Court granted the motion and entered a judgment
dismissing the complaint on December 16, 2016, Patillo appealed, and the Eighth Circuit entered
an order vacating the judgment and remanding the action for further proceedings on December 6,
2017. Documents #23, #25, and #28. Patillo had &lewbtion for appointment of counsel, which
the Court then granted. Document #31. The Cdivected Sysco to file a brief addressing the
issues on remand on or befordkeary 14, 2018, and directed Patillo to file a brief in response on
or before February 28, 20181. The Court then stayed the actipending entry of an order by the
bankruptcy court authorizing Patillo to proceed approving retention of counsel; Patillo filed a
notice of the bankruptcy court’s authorizataomd approval on April 20, 2018, and the Court lifted
the stay. Document #36.

Sysco and Patillo have fildatiefs addressing the issues on remand and Patillo has filed a

motion for leave to amend thermplaint pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 15(a)(2).
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Documents #32, #38, and #39. Sysco has respondedamang that amendment would be futile
because Patillo’s claims are not timely and evémely were, the proposed amended complaint fails
to state a claim. Document #40. Patillo’s raotfor leave to amend the complaint is denied.
Sysco’s motion to dismiss is again granted.

l.

Rule 15(a)(2) provides that once the timeaoend a pleading asnaatter of course has
expired, “a party many amend its pleading only with the opposing party’s written consent or the
court’'s leave. The court shouiekely give leave when justice sequires,” but may deny leave if
there is a compelling reason, such as undue delay, bad faith, dilatory motive, or futility of the
amendmentSee Reuter v. Jax Ltd., In@11 F.3d 918, 922 (8th Cir. 2013). “Denial of a motion
for leave to amend on the basis of futility ‘mearesdistrict court has reached the legal conclusion
that the amended complaint could not withstandotion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) of the
Federal Rules of Civil ProcedureZutz v. Nelson605 F.3d 842, 850 (8th Cir. 2010) (quoting
Cornelia I. Crowell GST Trust v. Possis Med., }&d.9 F.3d 778, 782 (8th Cir. 2008)). To survive
a motion to dismiss under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6), a complaint must contain “a
short and plain statement of the claim showing thetpleader is entitled telief.” Fed. R. Civ.

P. 8(a)(2). Although detailed factual allegati@re not required, the complaint must set forth
“enough facts to state a claim to reliedt is plausible on its faceBell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb]\650

U.S. 544, 570, 127 S. Ci955, 1974, 167 L. E@d 929 (2007). “A claim has facial plausibility

when the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that
the defendant is liable for the misconduct allegeéshcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678, 129 S. Ct.

1937, 1949, 173 L. Ed. 2d 868 (2009). The Court accepts as true all of the factual allegations



contained in the complaint and draws all reasonable inferences in favor of the nonmoving party.
Gorog v. Best Buy Co., IncZ60 F.3d 787, 792 (8th Cir. 2014). eTbomplaint must contain more

than labels, conclusions, or a formulaic recitatbtihe elements of a cause of action, which means
that the court is “not bound to accept as true a legal conclusion couched as a factual allegation.”
Twombly 550 U.S. at 555, 127 S. Ct. at 1965.

Patillo seeks leave to amend so she can correctly name Sysco as a defendant, add a new
defendant, and add claims for race discrimamaand retaliation under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 and the
Arkansas Civil Rights Act, and add claims faeirierence with her rights under the Family Medical
Leave Act. Document #39 at 3, 1 6. Regarding Patilldle VII claims, shesays that if the Court
grants her leave to amend, then the motion to dismiss will be rendered moot because the amended
complaint cures the deficiencigsthe original complaint and raises additional claims that do not
have exhaustion requirements. Document #38 at 1, n. 1.

.

As athreshold matter, Sysco argues that the{&hould exercise its discretion and hold that
Patillo’s claims are barred by judicial estoppel bseashe did not disclose them in the bankruptcy
proceeding. Document #40 at 3-9. Patillo filed for bankruptcy on June 23, 2016. Chapter 13
Voluntary Petition at 1|n re Patillo, No. 4:16BK13311 (Bankr. E.[Ark. June 23, 2016). She did
not disclose any potential claim that she may have had against S§sead. Patillo filed this
action on October 6, 2016. Document #2. She did not disclose it until February 12, 2018, when she
amended her schedules to reflect the ongoing lawsuit. Amended Schedules/Stataments,

Patillo, No. 4:16BK13311 (Bankr. E.D. Ark. Feb. 12, 2018).



“Judicial estoppel is an equitadoctrine that ‘protects the integrity of the judicial process.”
Combs v. Cordish Co., In@62 F.3d 671, 678 (8th Cir. 2017) (quotBigllings v. Hussman Corp.
447 F.3d 1041, 1046-47 (8th Cir. 2006)). It prevents a party from taking a position in a legal
proceeding, continuing that position, and then assuming a conflicting position “simply because [her]
interests have changedNew Hampshire v. Main®&32 U.S. 742, 748, 121 S. Ct. 1808, 149 L. Ed.
2d 968 (2001). The Court considers three factors, known aSlehveHampshirdactors, in
determining whether a party should be estopped asserting a claim: “(1) whether the party’s
later position is ‘clearly inconsistent’ with iggior position; (2) whether a court was persuaded to
accept a prior position ‘so that judicial acceptancamihconsistent position in a later proceeding
would create the perception that either the firshersecond court was misled; and (3) whether the
party claiming inconsistent positions ‘would derian unfair advantage or impose an unfair
detriment on the opposing party if not stoppe8riith v. AS Am., In829 F.3d 616, 624 (8th Cir.
2016) (quotingNew Hampshire532 U.S. at 750, 121 S. Ct. 1808). These factors are not “an
exhaustive formula” and are intended td tie Court in exercising its discretioBtallings 447
F.3d at 1047. “In the bankruptcy context, a party bmjudicially estopped from asserting a cause
of action not raised in a reorganization plarotirerwise mentioned in the debtor’s schedules or
disclosure statementsld.; see also Combh862 F.3d at 679 (“[I]f a debt obtains property during
the pendency of a Chapter 13 bankruptcy, the debtor may be required to amend the Chapter 13
schedules.”).

Even if theNew Hampshireactors favor the application of judicial estoppel, it is an
extraordinary remedy and the Court should onlywppWwhen a party’s inconsistent behavior will

result in a miscarriage of justiceStallings 447 F.3d at 1049. Patillo fdefor bankruptcy prior to



commencing this lawsuit; she represented hemmelfse the Court dismissed the action with
prejudice just three months after its commencenstie@appealed just a few days after the Court’s
order of dismissal; she represented hegmelfseon appeal; the action was pending on appeal for
one year; and she prevailed on appeal. Allowingl®#o proceed in thisase will not result in a
miscarriage of justice. Patillo has done nothingrdythe course of this litigation to indicate that
she is gaming the system or that she chose not to disclose this action as a tactical decision. Patillo
has now amended her schedules and the bankropiicigranted her permission to retain counsel
in this action. Judicial estoppel is not appropriate in this case.
1.

The Eighth Circuit remanded to this Court for further consideration, in light of Supreme
Court precedent, as to whether Patillo has satisfitle VII's administrative requirementRBatillo
v. Sysco Foods of Ark., LL.@04 Fed. Appx. 612, 612-13 (8th Cir. 2017); Document #28; Document
#23. “To exhaust administrative remedies, an individual must: (1) timely file a charge of
discrimination with the EEOC setting forth the faatsl nature of the charge and (2) receive notice
of the right to sue.’Rush v. State of Ark. DW&6 F.3d 1123, 1125 (8th Cir. 2017). A charge must
be filed with the EEOC withid80 days after the alleged unlawful employment practice occurred
and a civil action be brought by the complaining party within 90 days after the EEOC gives notice
of the right to sue. 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(e)(3fL§f The charge must "be in writing under oath or
affirmation . . . contain[ing] such information and . . . in such form as the Commission requires.”
Id. at 2000e-5(b).

Patillo has filed two charges of discrimir@tiwith the EEOC. In 2015, she filed a charge
alleging race and sex discrimination and retaliatibhe EEOC issued a notice of the right to sue
on September 8, 2015, but Patillo did not file sidbcument #20-2. She continued working for
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Sysco until October 20, 2015, when, according to hesg&forced her to resign because of her race
and in retaliation for filing the 2015 chargPocument #20-3. Then, on Mar2h, 2016, Pallo

filed an unverified intake questionnaire with BeOC alleging instances of race discrimination and
retaliation, some that had occurred since20&5 charge. Docume#tl8 at 11-14. The EEOC
responded on April 11, 2016, requesting that Patillo provide them with more information.
Document #19 at 9. The EEOC informed Patillo thstte did not responatithin 30 days, it would
assume she did not wish to pursue her claims and labeled its correspondence: “Sysco Food Services
of AR EEOC No. 493-2016-009781Id. Patillo filed a second charge of discrimination with the
EEOC on June 13, 2016.Document #20-3. The second charge is labeled Charge No.
493-2016-00978Id. The EEOC issued a notice of thghtito sue on July 8, 2016. Document #2

at 4. Patillo filed the second EEOC charge ntben 180 days after tHast alleged unlawful
employment practice—constructive discharge—occurréd. at 1-3. But Patillo filed the
guestionnaire with the EEOC on March 21, 2016jctvtwas within 180 days of the alleged
unlawful employment practice.

Whether Patillo’s action is timely depends on whether the unverified intake questionnaire
can be deemed a charge foe fhurposes of calculating the 180 day cut-off for filing a charge.
Document #28. The Eighth Circuit directed theu@ to reconsider this question in lightredd.
Express Corp. v. Holowegls52 U.S. 389, 128 S. Ct. 1147, 170 L. Ed. 2d 10 (2008Edertiman
v. Lynchburg Coll.535 U.S. 106, 122 S. At145 (2002). Document #28Prior to those opinions,

the Eighth Circuit consistently held that intajeestionnaires which are neither verified nor signed

! Sysco argues that Patillo has failed to prove that the EEOC in fact received the
guestionnaire. Document #32 at 6. There is ngthm the pleadings to indicate that the EEOC did
not receive the questionnaire. At this stag@elitigation, the Court draws reasonable inferences
in Patillo’s favor.



under oath cannot be considered charges undeNTitler purposes of satisfying the requirement
that a charge be filed within 180 daystloé alleged unlawful employment practicehempert v.
Harwick Chem. Corp.151 F.3d 793, 796 (8th Cir. 1998) (collecting cases). This holding does not
align withEdelmarandHolowecki See Wilkes v. Nucor-Yamato Stee| §o. 3:14CV00224, 2015
WL 5725771 at *7 (E.D. Ark. Sept. 29, 2015).

In Edelmenthe plaintiff sent the EEOC a leteercusing his employer of discrimination, but
he failed to verify the letter. 535 U.S. at 109, 8€t. 1145. He later, however, filed an untimely
but verified formal EEOC chargeld. at 109-10, 122 S.Ct. 1145. TRmurt agreed with the
EEOC's regulation providing that a lateerified charge would relate back to the date on which the
original letter was filedld. at 118, 122 S.Ct. 1145. ThereforélelVll permits "the relation back
of an oath omitted from an ol filing" because an unverifig unsworn filing can still constitute
a charge under Title VII if the defect is later curédl. at 115, 112 S. Ct. at 1150.

Patillo’s March 21, 2016 intake questionnaire duatssatisfy the requirements of 42 U.S.C.
8 2000e-5(b) because it is not verified. Document #18 at 14. The June 13, 2016 charge of
discrimination, however, is sworn under oatld aures those deficiencies. Document #20-3.
Therefore, the fact that the intake questionnaireot verified does not preclude it from being
considered a charge for determining whether Patillo has satisfied Title VII's verification
requirement. The question is whether the intake questionnaire can be relied upon to avoid the time-
bar.

To decide whether Patillo’s intake questioneaan be deemed a charge for the purpose of
satisfying Title VII's timely filingrequirement, the Court lookslttmloweckiand whether it applies
in the context of Title VII. IrHoloweckj the Supreme Court considered what constitutes a charge

under the Age Discrimination in Employment AADEA”). 552 U.S. at 395, 128 S. Ct. at 1153.
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The immediate question before the Court was the timeliness of thdduitike Title VII, the
ADEA does not define “chargeld. at 395, 128 S. Ct. at 1154. Recaymj that in order to operate
efficiently the EEOC needed to be able to segeardormation requests from enforcement requests,
the Court said:

In addition to the information required by the regulatides,an allegation and the

name of the charged party, if a filing istie deemed a charge it must be reasonably

construed as a request for the agency to take remedial action to protect the

employee’s rights or otherwise settle a dispute between the employer and the

employee.
* % %

[T]he filing must be examined from the standpoint of an objective observer to
determine whether, by reasonable construction of its terms, the filer requests the
agency to activate its machinery and remedial process . . ..

Id. at 402, 128 S. Ct. at 1157-58.

The Court then turned to the filingiasue, an intake questionnaire. at 404, 128 S. Ct.
at1159. The questionnaire contained the nanddsgases, and telephone numbers of the employee
and employer; an allegation that the employee and others were victims of age discrimination; the
number of employees who worked at the facibiyg a statement that the employee had not sought
the assistance of any governmergragy regarding the allegationtsl. It did not include a request
for the agency to act and the design of the forthatttime did not give rise to such an inference.

Id. at 405, 128 S. Ct. at 1150. However, the eygx® supplemented the intake questionnaire with

a detailed six-page affidavit, asking the agency to compel the employer to stop discriminating
against its employees based on afgk, 128 S. Ct. at 1150-60. The Court said the employee’s
statements in the affidavit were “properly construed as a request for the agency to act” and held that
the questionnaire constituted a charige.

Recognizing that its holding may apply outside the ADEA, the Court specifically warned

against such application without careful ddesation, “even if the EEOC forms and the same
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definition of charge apply in moreah one type of discrimination casdd. at 395, 128 S. Ct. at
1153. Still, based on the similarities between the Title VIl and ADEA exhaustion requirements,
Holoweckiapplies here to assess the timedmef a charge in Title VIl caseSee Williams v. CSX
Transp. Cq.643 F.3d 502, 508 n. 2 (6th Cir. 2011) (collecting caS=zsysroth v. City of Wichita

304 Fed. Appx. 707, 712-13 (10th Cir. 2008¢nnedy v. Columbus Mfg., In2017 WL 4680079

at *3 (N.D. Cal. Oct. 18, 2017) (collecting cas&gnd v. Fairfax Cnty. Va799 F. Supp. 2d 609,
616-17 (E.D. Va. 2011Beckham v. Nat'l R.R. Passenger Cof20 F. Supp. 2d 82, 86 (D.D.C.
2008).

The ADEA regulation providing the informationatha filing must contain to be deemed a
charge is nearly identical its Title VIl counterpart.Compare29 C.F.R. § 1626.8, with 29 C.F.R.

§ 1601.12. The only significant difference betweem tivo “[a]s it pertains to the form and
substance of a charge . . . is that the ADEA lacks a verification requirenWikés 2015 WL
5725771 at *7¢omparingd2 U.S.C. § 2000e-and29 C.F.R. 8§ 1601.9, 1601.Mith 29 U.S.C.

8 626,and 29 C.F.R. 88 1626.6, 1626.8). And, “[tihe ABHike Title VII, sets up a remedial
scheme in which laypersons, rather than kengyare expected to initiate the procesmloweck]

552 U.S. at 402, 128 S. Ct. at5Bl(internal quotation omitted). Based on this comparison, the
Supreme Court irloloweckiconcluded that it is “consistenitivthe purposes of the [ADEA] that

a charge can be a form, easy to complete, or an informal document, easy tddiraft.”

In light of Holoweckj Patillo’s intake questionnaire qualifies as an EEOC charge for
timeliness purposes. First, the intake questionnaire includes all the information listed in the
regulation and iHolowecki it is fully complete, identifies the parties, provides dates of events, and
includes descriptions of discriminatamgts and adverse employment actiddses22 U.S. at 402,

128 S. Ct. at 1158; 29 C.F.R1801.7. Second, the questionnaire bameasonably construed as

9



a request for the agency to take remedial action. Slalmveckjthe EEOC has modified its form
intake questionnaire to make it easier for it to distinguish between requests for information and
requests for enforcemehtSee Hildebrand v. Allegheny Cnf§57 F.3d 99, 112-13 (3rd Cir. 2014).
It added two boxes to the end of the form. eknployee checks box one if she wants to talk to an
EEOC employee before deciding whether to dileharge. An employeshecks box two if she
wants to file a charge of discrimination andrauiize the EEOC to look into the allegations included
in the questionnaire. Above the boxes, the fetates: “If you want to file a charge, you should
check Box 2.” Patillo checked box two. Furtherendhe EEOC labeled the dispute with a series
of numbers in its letter responding to the questaire; it corresponds with the numbers listed on
the subsequently filed formal charge. Document #18 at 9. The questionnaire can be reasonably
construed as a request for the EEOC to takeedial action to protect her rightSee Hildebrand
757 F.3d at 112-13 (“Under the revised form, an employee who completes the Intake Questionnaire
and checks Box 2 unquestionably files a charge of discriminatidter)nedy2017 WL 4680079
at *3; Henderson v. Bank of America, N.No. 2:14-cv-895, 2015 WL 2374519 at *2 (E.D. Tex.
May 15, 2015).

Because EEOC regulations allow an employestend a charge of discrimination to cure
technical defects, “including failure to verify thlearge,” and provide that “[sjuch amendments . . .
will relate back to the date the charge wast fieceived,” Pi@lo’s verified June 13, 2016 charge
relates back to the filing datd the unverified March 21, 2016, intake questionnaire. 29 C.F.R. §

1601.12(b)see alsp535 U.S. at 115, 122 S.Ct. at 145.

2 patillo’s intake questionnaire is afodated 9/20/08. Document #18 at Héloweckiwas
decided on February 27, 2008.
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V.

That the intake questionnaire is deemed a charge Hiotteveckiand that the verification
of the formal charge relates back to the ¢joasaire for timing purposesoes not end the Court’s
inquiry into whether Patillo exhasted her administrative remedies. To do so, Patillo must have
given timely notice of all claims afiscrimination in the EEOC charg&ee Stuart v. Gen. Motors
Corp,, 217 F.3d 621, 630 (8th Cir. 2000). The Cous hddressed the timeliness issue in part.
What remains is whether each claim alleged in this action has been exhausted and if so, whether
those claims were exhausted in a timely fashion.

As discussed, 42 U.S.C. 8§ 2000e-5(e)(1) provides that a charge shall be filed within one
hundred and eighty days aftee alleged unlawful employment practameurredand notice of the
charge (including the date, place and circumstancedlleged unlawful employment pracjice
shall be served upon the person against whom sabeis made within ten days thereafter. “The
object of the exhaustion requirement le‘alleged unlawful employment practiceRichter, 686
F.3d at 851. The Supreme Court has explained that the term “practice” does not “connote ‘an
ongoing violation that can endurerecur over a period of time.ltl. (quotingNat'l R.R. Passenger
Corp. v. Morgan 536 U.S. 101, 109, 122 S. Ct. 2061, 153 L. Ed 2d 106 (2002)). The Court
determined that the term “practice” does not “convert ‘related discrete acts into a single unlawful

practice for the purposes of timely filingld. Instead, “[e]ach discreiacident of such treatment
constitutes its own unlawful employment praetifor which administrative remedies must be
exhausted.”ld. (quotingMartinez v. Potter347 F.3d 1208, 1210 (10th C2003)). The charge,

therefore, must be filed within the 180 day eirperiod after each discrete discriminatory act

occurred.See Rebouche v. Deere & Co86 F.3d 1083, 1086 (8th Cir. 2015).
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The Eighth Circuit recognizes a judicial extiep to the exhaustion doctrine: “In the Title
VIl context, [even if a claim is not listed the charge,] ‘[tjhe exhaustion requirement may be
satisfied if the civil claim grows out of or l&ke or reasonably related to the substance of the
allegations in the administrative chargeFdster v. BNSF Railway C&66 F.3d 962, 966 (8th Cir.
2017) (quoting=anning v. Potter614 F.3d 845, 51 (8th Cir. 2010) (internal quotation omitted));
Jones v. City of St. Louis, M&25 F.3d 476, 482 (8th Cir. 2016). eTpermissible scope of a civil
suit should be “as broad as the scope of any imasn that reasonably could have been expected
to result from the initial charge of discriminationStuart 217 F.3d at 630-31.

Sysco argues that even if the questionnaidee&med part of the administrative charge for
timeliness purposes, it should not be deemed p#neatdministrative charge for deciding whether
specific claims alleged in the complaint have bedmausted. Document #8212. In other words,

a claim raised in the intake questionnairedmttted from the formal EEOC charge has not been
exhausted. Patillo, relying d¢toloweckj argues that the permissitsleope of this action includes
claims that appear in the intake questionnairabaiabsent from the formal charge. Document #38
at 11 (“Liberal interpretation shows that all claiasserted in Plaintiff's complaint grew out of or
are reasonably related to the substance of thgadilbes in her intake questionnaire.”). The Eighth
Circuit has not decided this issuBee Wilkes2015 WL 5725771 at *7.

It appears that only the Sixth Circuit has appltaloweckito determine that claims are
exhausted when mentioned in an intake qaestire or other filing submitted to the EEOC prior
to a formal chargeSee Williams643 F.3d at 508The majority of courts that have decided the
issue limitHolowecki’'sapplication to whether a charge was timely fil&keeSwearinigen-El v.
Cook Cnty. Sheriff's Dep602 F.3d 852, 865 (7th Cir. 2010)€rruled on other grounds) (deciding

thatHoloweckiwas “inapposite” because “the issue [wasf whether a charge was timely filed (it
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was) but rather whether it included an allegation of retaliati@#j)zanty v. Verizon PA., In@61
Fed. Appx. 411, 415 (3d Cir. 201 ashid v. Wash. Metro. Area Transit Autbiv. Action No.
DKC 17-0726, 2018 WL 1425978 at tb. Md. Mar. 22, 2018)L.indsey v. Ricoh USA, IncCivil
No. 2:17-cv-464, 2018 WL 1937062 (E.D. Va. Apr. 24, 20A8)jjaj v. Detica, InG.873 F. Supp.
2d 221, 228-29 (D.D.C. 2012)iddleton v. Motley Rice, LLONo. 2:08-3256—CWH, 2010 WL
3167360, at *6 (D.S.C. Aug. 9, 2010) 4ff445 Fed. Appx. 651 (4th Cir. 201tgrt. denied—
U.S. —, 132 S. Ct. 1755, 182 L. Ed. 2d 542 (2012).

Regardless, Patillo’s Title VII claims alleged in the proposed amended complaint are not
based on allegations that were included in the intake questionnaire but omitted from the 2016
charge. Therefore, the Court need not decide whetblemweckiapplies to thessue of whether
claims have been exhausted.

V.

ConsideringHoloweckiand the Supreme Court’s interpretation of “unlawful employment
practice,” the Court turns to the proposed amended complaint to determine whether Patillo has
complied with the administrative requirementslaggble to her Title VII claims. Regarding the
Title VII claims, Patillo says that if the Court gtaer leave to amend, then the motion to dismiss
will be renderedmoot because the amended complaint cures the deficiencies in the original
complaint. Document#38 at 1, n. 1. Patillo alketiat she was discriminated against based on her
race and retaliated against in violation of Title M. at 2. The following discriminatory conduct
is alleged in the amended complaint in support of Patillo’s Title \dihtd: Sysco passed over
Patillo for promotions, decting white candidates instead; Patillo made an internal complaint in
March 2015 about Sysco’s discriminatory andlratary conduct; her hours were reduced in May

2015; Patillo filed a chargeith the EEOC in September 2015; she was then overloaded with
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responsibilities and provided an unqualified assistays$co treated Patillo this way so that she
would quit; Patillo’s working conditions became so intolerable that she was forced to resign on
October 20, 2015SeeDocument #39-1 at 3-6, T 12-32. thre 2016 charge, Patillo checked the
boxes for discrimination based on race and retahatDocument #32-3. Patillo stated: “I believe

my hours were reduced [in May 2015], | was giaenunqualified assistant, and | was forced to
resign [in October 2015] because of my race,lhland in retaliation for filing a previous EEOC
charge (493-2015-01399), in violation of Title VIIIY.

Patillo does not mention Sysco’s failuresteard her a promotion in the 2016 charge, but
they are reasonably related to the allegationsahdharge so the issigetimeliness rather than
exhaustion. Document #32-3. @R015 charge is based on allegations that Patillo was denied
promotions on September 29, 2014, December 16, 2014, and March 15, 2015, because of her race.
Document #32-1. Patillo did not file a ciattion based on the 2015 charge and corresponding
notice of the right to sue but she raises the allegations in the proposed amended complaint. Any
Title VII claim based on these discrete, discrniatbry acts is time-bamebecause Rido did not
file suit within 90 days of receing from the EEOC a notice ofdhright to sue in September 2015.
Seed2 U.S.C. 8§ 2000e-5(f)(13ee Hales v. Casey’s Mktg. C886 F.3d 730, 736 (8th Cir. 2018);
see also Morgarb36 at 114, 122 S. Ct. 2061 (“Discrete acts ssch . failure to promote . . .” are
“not actionable if time barred, even when theyratated to acts alleged in timely filed charges.”);
Frazier v. Vilsack419 Fed. Appx. 686, 690 (8th Cir. 2011) (“An employee who fails to bring a
complaint in federal court following receipt ofight to sue letter within the time period allowed
under Title VIl is barred from ever bringing a fedetiaim related to that EEOC charge even if a

subsequent EEOC charge and right to sue letter reference the earlier acts.”).
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Patillo’s retaliation claim is based on two gli¢ions of discriminatory conduct: (1) Sysco
retaliated against her for complaining intdlypabout discrimination in March 2015 by reducing
her hours and (2) Sysco retaliated against hdilifag a charge with ta EEOC in September 2015
by reducing her hours and making conditions so intolerable that she was forced td 18sign.
Document#39-1 at9, 150. The 2015 charge2@ié charge, and the proposed amended complaint
allege that “the redred hours continued.1d. at 6, Y 29. Though Patillo continued to work the
reduced amount of hours until her resignation, the reduction of hours does not constitute a
“continuing violation.” Rather, Sysco’s deasito reduce the number of hours Patillo could work
in a week was a discrete, allegedly discriminatory 8ee Morgan536 U.S. at 113. Patillo alleges
that the act occurred in retaliation for her ined complaints and the 2015 charge. The proposed
amended complaint alleges that her hours wegtaced in May 2015. Document #39-1 at 5,  25.
There is no allegation that Sysco reduced P&ilmurs again after she filed the 2015 charge.
Therefore, any retaliation claim based on a reduction in hours is time-barred.

In the 2016 charge and the proposed amended complaint, Patillo alleges claims for race
discrimination, alleging constructive discharge, and retaliatory constructive discharge. Document
#32-3 at 2; Document #39-1849, 11 44, 52. Patillo has exhausted administrative remedies with
respect constructive discharg8ee Brooks v. Midwest Heart Grp55 F.3d 796, 800 (8th Cir.
2011). She filed an administrative charge withEiEOC alleging constructive discharge within 180
days of the constructive discharge, received a nofitiee right to sue,ra filed this action within

90 days of receiving notice of the right to sue.

% The proposed amended complaint also alleges that Sysco assigned Patillo an unqualified
assistant, but this appears to be part of wind@ions were so intolerable. Patillo does not appear
to be arguing the assignment of an unqualified assistant is an adverse employment action.
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VI.

The proposed amended complaint adds claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1981, the Family Medical
Leave Act (“FMLA"), and the Arkansas Civil Bints Act (“ACRA”). Document #39-1 at 1, § 1.
Sysco argues that amendment would be futile, in part because the claims are barred by the relevant
statutes of limitations. Document #40 at 16.e Bhaction 1981 and ACRA claims are based on the
same unlawful employment practices as the TWeclaims; the constructive discharge claim
likewise arises out of the same unlawful employment practices and Patillo’s resignation is referenced
in the original complaint. SeeDocument #39-1 at 8-9, 1Y 36-58. Therefore, the proposed
amendment relates back to the date of the @igimmplaint because the amendment asserts claims
that arose out of the conduct or occurrenceositin the original pleading. Fed. R. Civ. P.
15(c)(1)(B). The applicable statute of limitations for race discrimination and retaliation claims
under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 is four yeadanes v. R.R. Donnelly & Sons C&41 U.S. 369, 382, 124
S. Ct. 1836, 158 L. Ed. 2d 645 (200d3ckson v. Homechoice, In868 F.3d 997, 999 (8th Cir.
2004). Section 1981 does not require the exhaustion of administrative renfekeBainbridge
v. Loffredo Gardens, Inc378 F.3d 756, 760 (8th Cir. 2004). Patillo filed this action on October 6,
2016, which is within four yearsf the discriminatory conduct alleged in the proposed amended
complaint. Document #2. Therefore, the section 1981 claims are timely.

Patillo’'s ACRA claims are governed by ARode Ann. 8 16-123-107(c)(4), which provides
that any action based on a violation of the right to obtain and hold employment without
discrimination “shall be brought within one (1) year after the alleged employment discrimination
occurred, or within (90) days of receipt of aigRt to Sue” letter” from the EEOC, whichever is
later. Claims under the ACRA&analyzed in the same manner as Title VII claims and the ACRA

instructs Arkansas courts to look to federailaiights all when interpreting its provisionSee Holt
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v. Deer-Mt. Judea Sch. DistL35 F. Supp. 3d 898, 904 (W.D. Ark. 2019)herefore, the Court’s
analysis concerning the timeliness of Patillo’s Title VII claims applies to her ACRA claims.

The FMLA claim is based on allegations tBatsco interfered with Patillo’s rights under its
provisions: Sysco refused to process Patillojsgpavork requesting FMLA leave, precluding her
from taking leave and caring for her childreBeeDocument #39-1 at 10, 1 55-60. An FMLA
interference claim is governed by a two-yeatwge of limitations: “[A]ln action may be brought
under this section not later than 2 years afterdate of the last evenonstituting the alleged
violation for which the action is brought.’29 U.S.C. § 2617(c)(1). The proposed amended
complaint does not allege thaate the interference occurreolit it does allege that Patillo
complained on March 15, 2015, about her attempitilize intermittent FMLA leave, so the
interference occurred prior to that date. Docoiw&9-1 at 5,  23. Patillo commenced this action
less than two years later. The question is wheklieeFMLA claims arises out of the conduct set out
in the original complaint, thereby allowing the ardeent to relate back to the date this action was
filed.

“The basic inquiry is whether the amended complaint is related to the general fact situation
alleged in the origal pleading.” Alpern v. UtiliCorp. United, In¢.84 F.3d 1525, 1543 (8th Cir.
1996). The original complaint did not mention le@av the fact that Patillo’s children required care;
it focused on race discrimination and retaliati®@®eDocument #2. Patillo’s FMLA claim relates
to the general fact situation alleged in hegioal complaint only in the most general way—both
relate to her employment at Sysco—but that is too general for the FMLA claim to relate back.
Patillo’'s FMLA claim is barred by the statute of limitationsCf. Maegdlin v. Int'l Assoc. of

Machinists 309 F.3d 1051, 1053 (8th Cir. 2002).
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VII.

Finally, the Court looks to the proposed amehclemplaint first to determine if amendment
would be futile. Patillo’s claims for race discrimination and retaliation in violation of Title VII,
section 1981, and the ACRA remain. The Eighth @irecas addressed the pleading standard as it
applies in the employment discrimination cont&See LaKeysia Wilson v. Ark. Dept. of Human
Servs, 850 F.3d 368, 372 (8th Cir. 2017). The court axd that “[u]nder the ‘simplified notice
pleading standard’ that govermdcDonnell Douglasretaliation claims, summary judgment
motions—not motions to dismiss—should dispose of most unmeritorious cl&im$te Eighth
Circuit quoted the Supreme Court: “The provisitorgliscovery are so flexible and the provisions
for pretrial procedure and summary judgment so gffethat attempted surprise in federal practice
is aborted very easily, synthetic issues detected, and the gravamen of the dispute brought frankly
into the open for the inspection of the coultd” (quotingJohnson v. City of Shelpd35 S. Ct. 346,
347, 190 L.Ed. 2d 309 (2014) (per curiam)).

Patillo relies on constructive dischargethe adverse employment action for her race
discrimination and retaliation claim&ee Alvarez v. Des Moines Bolt Supply,, 1626 F.3d 410,
418 (8th Cir. 2010) (acknowledging constructive discharge as an adverse employment action in a
retaliation claim)Tatum v. Berkley408 F.3d 543, 551 (8th Cir. 2005) (recognizing constructive
discharge as an adverse employment actiondneadiscrimination claim). The Court assumes that
Patillo has stated a prima facie case of discrimination and retaliation, except for an adverse
employment action.See West v. Marion Merrell Dow, In&4 F.3d 493, 497 (8th Cir. 1995
“Constructive discharge occurs when an emgéoyeliberately renders the employee’s working
conditions intolerable, thereby forcing her to quitatum v. Ark. Dep’t of Healfi111 F.3d 955,

960 (8th Cir. 2005) (internal quotation omitteaeslso Penn. State Police v. Su¢ggd® U.S. 129,

18



142,124 S. Ct. 2342, 2352, 159 L. Ed22d (2004) (holding that Title VIl encompasses employer
liability for constructive discharge).

To prove her constructive discharge claiRatillo would have to show that Sysco
“deliberately created intolerable working condition&h the intention of forcing her to quit.”
Sandersv. Lee Cnty. Sch. Dist. N&@9 F.3d 888, 893 (8th Cir. 2012) (internal quotation omitted).

If “resignation was a reasonably foreseealdasequence of [an] employer’s discriminatory
actions,” the intent requirement is satisfid@tom v. Georgia-Pacific Corp228 F.3d 926, 932 (8th

Cir. 2000). The Eighth Circuit has explained tin&t intolerability of working conditions is judged

by an objective standard: “[T]he question is whether the working conditions were rendered so
objectionable that a reasonable person wdude deemed resignation the only plausible
alternative.” Id.

The following facts are alleged in supporttbé constructive discinge claim: Patillo
worked reduced hours but was “ole@ded with responsibilities imordinating customer shipments
and pick-ups and was given unqualified assistance in helping complete these tasks. Defendant’s
conduct was intended to force Plaintiff to quit.” Document #39-1 at 6, { 29. The facts alleged in
the proposed amended complaint indicate that Patiloiking conditions were frustrating: she did
not advance at Sysco; instead, she was forcelb tmore work in lss time without competent
assistance. But frustration is not the stadddi{T]he overwhelming campulsion to quit that is
necessary for constructive discharged is not created” when an employer reduces an employee’s
hours per week by five hours, assigns the employee more work, and assigns the employee an
assistant to help with that workw the employee believes is “unqualifie&&e Tidwell v. Meyer’'s
Bakeries, InG.93 F.3d 490, 495 (8th Cir. 1996). Construing the complaint liberally, the allegations

in the proposed amended complaint are insuffidi@iconstitute a constructive discharge because
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a reasonable person would not find the allegexking conditions to be intolerabl8ee Taton228
F.3d at 931-32 (collecting caseBgtz v. Chertoff578 F.3d 929, 935 (8th Cir. 2009). Therefore,
amendment would be futile.
CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, Lateshia Patillo’s motion for leave to file an amended complaint
is DENIED. Sysco Foods of Ransas, LLC’s motion to dismiss is again GRANTED. This action
is hereby dismissed with prejudice.

IT IS SO ORDERED this 1st day of June, 2018.

| Feon b

J.1EON HOLMES
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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